CCASE:

SOL (MSHA) V. TEXAS ARCHI TECHTURAL AGGREGATES
DDATE:

19880912

TTEXT:



~1213
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TEXAS ARCHI TECTURAL
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DECI SI ON

Appearances: E. Jeffery Story, Esq., Ofice of the
Solicitor, U 'S. Departnent of Labor, Dall as,
Texas, for the Petitioner;
David M Wl lians, Esq., San Saba, Texas, for
t he Respondent.

Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

This is a civil penalty proceeding initiated by the
petitioner against the respondent pursuant to section 110(a) of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O
820(a). Petitioner seeks a civil penalty assessment in the anmount
of $91 for an alleged violation of mandatory safety standard 30
C.F.R [0 56.11001. The respondent filed a tinely answer
contesting the alleged violation, and a hearing was convened in
San Antoni o, Texas. The parties waived the filing of posthearing
briefs, but | have considered the argunents nade on the record
during the course of the hearing in ny adjudication of this
matter.

| ssues

The issues presented in this case are (1) whether the
conditions or practices cited by the inspector constitutes a
violation of the cited mandatory health standard; (2) the
appropriate civil penalty to be assessed for the violation,
taking into account the statutory civil penalty criteria found
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in section 110(i) of the Act; and (3) whether the violation was
"significant and substantial." Additional issues raised by the
parties are identified and di sposed of in the course of this
deci si on.

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, Pub. L.
95A164, 30 U.S.C. O 801 et seq.

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U.S.C. 0O 820(i).
3. Commi ssion Rules, 29 C.F.R 0O 2700.1 et seq.

Stipul ations
The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 5):

1. The nane of the respondent conpany is Texas
Architectural Aggregate, Inc. with the place of
busi ness at San Saba, Texas.

2. Jurisdiction is conferred upon the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Revi ew Commi ssi on under the Federa

M ne Safety and Health Act, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801 et seq. The
all eged violation of the Act took place in or involves
the m ne that has products which affect comrerce.

3. The nanme of the mine is San Saba Plant and Quarry,

i dentification number 41A0100. The mine is |ocated at
or near San Saba, Texas; San Saba county. The size of
the conpany is 118,207 production tons or hours work
per year, and the size of the mne is 83,300 production
tons or hours work per year

4. The total nunber of inspection days in the preceding
24 nonths is 22 days.

5. The total nunber of citations in the preceding 12
nonths is 46.

The parties also stipulated to the adm ssibility of an MSHA
conmput er print-out concerning the respondent's prior history of
vi ol ati ons, and several photographic exhibits (Tr. 6; exhibits
PA2, PA3; RA1l through RAG).
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Di scussi on

Section 104(a) "S & S" Citation No. 2868984, issued by MSHA
I nspector Edward R. Lilly on July 27, 1987, cites an all eged
violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 56.11001, and the condition or practice
is described as foll ows:

Saf e access was not provided to the di sconnect and
starter boxes to the big and small cone crusher
Persons were required to crawl over conveyor belt and
steel "I" beam of the jaw crusher. The V-belt drive
unit was | ocated beside electrical boxes exposing
person to noving machi ne parts and pinch points.

Petitioner's Testinmny and Evi dence

MSHA | nspector Edward R Lilly testified that he issued the
citation because safe access was not provided to the electrical
swi tch boxes in question, in that a person would have to clinb
across a conveyor belt, step over an | beam and across a V-belt
drive unit to gain access to the switch boxes to deenergize the
power in the event of an emergency. M. Lilly confirned that the
boxes were | ocated under the crusher building control booth where
the crusher operator is located to run the equi pment. The boxes
were |located on a platform7 or 8 feet off the ground, and in
order to reach that |ocation, foreman Kenneth Crim advised him
that the crusher operator would use a | adder | ocated on the other
side of the building, and M. Lilly stated that once one reached
the | edge of the platform by neans of the | adder, he woul d have
to crawl across a conveyor belt and around the end of the V-belt
pull eys to gain access to the boxes. In his opinion, in the event
of an energency, one would have too many problens in clinbing
over these obstacles to tinely turn off the switches. M. Lilly
i dentified a photograph he took on May 5, 1988, showi ng the area
in question, and he confirmed that nothing had changed since the
day he issued the citation, and he described what was in the
phot ograph in response to several voire-dire questions by
respondent's counsel (Tr. 14A19, exhibit PA3).

M. Lilly confirmed that the crusher operator was in the
control booth at the tine of his inspection, and when he asked
the operator how he gai ned access to the switch boxes in order to
turn off the power for repair work, the operator advised hi mthat
he had to clinb over the conveyor belt and across the tail pulley
to pull the switches and | ock out the equipnment. M. Lilly
confirmed that a stop-start button was | ocated
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i nside the booth to stop and start the equipnent, but the main

di sconnect switch consisted of the cited boxes in question. M.
Lilly further confirmed that the operator he interviewed was the
person responsi ble for any mai ntenance work on the equi pment, and
that he would pull the main switches to kill the power when there
was nmai ntenance work to be done. The operator further advised him
that he had on occasion pulled the nain power switches in
guestion, and when asked to describe the route that he took to
acconplish this task, the operator advised himas follows (Tr.
24A25) :

THE WTNESS: He told nme that on occasion when the
crusher was plugged up or they had to go into the
crusher to get sonething out of it, that in order to
make it safe, they would have to go pull the main power
on this. And | asked himthen how did he got over to
pull the main power swtch

He said he craw ed across the conveyor belt, stepped on
the |-beam between the V-belt drive, and over the
V-belt drive onto the platformwhere the switch box is
| ocat ed.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Did he indicate to you whether or not
all this equi pment was operating or not operating? O
was that whole area shut down when he did this?

THE W TNESS: The whol e area was shut down.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Then he wasn't craw ing over an
operating conveyor belt?

THE W TNESS: No, sir. He pushed the button, just the
start/stop button to shut that down. But in order to go
i nside of a piece of equipnment, the switch has to be
pull ed and | ocked out. A | ock physically put on the
switch.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: But | amtal king about craw ing over--the
route he took to get to these junction boxes--was he
crawl i ng over equi pnent that was energi zed and
operating? O was he working--crawl i ng over equi pnent

t hat was shut down and | ocked out?

THE W TNESS: He was craw i ng over equi pnent that was
shut down, not | ocked out because he
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had to pull the power to lock it out. But that equi pnent--if
anyone had come up in the control booth, could push the button
and start the equipnment up. That is why we require it to be
| ocked out.

M. Lilly confirmed that his inspection party gai ned access
to the switch boxes in question by neans of a | adder pointed out
to themby M. Crim M. Lilly stated that he clinbed up the
| adder and clinmbed over the conveyors to reach the switch boxes.
He confirmed that the switch boxes woul d have been directly
accessi ble fromthe ground by neans of a |adder placed directly
up to the location of the boxes fromground |evel, but that no
| adder was present (Tr. 30A31).

M. Lilly stated that in order to abate the citation, he
al l oned the respondent to construct a | adder as a neans of direct
access to the switch boxes wi thout the necessity of clinbing over
the conveyors. Once the | adder was used to gain access to the
switches, it was to be renoved and hung out of the way so that
there was no access to the area for anyone except enpl oyees who
had business there. The | adder was permitted as a tenporary neans
of abatenment so that the respondent would not have to guard al
of the noving machine parts. M. Lilly stated that M. WIIlians
advised himthat he was in the process of building a new notor
control center, and the switch boxes in question were to be
eventual ly housed in a new building. Although some progress has
been made to relocate the switch boxes, M. Lilly confirmed that
they are still in the same location (Tr. 31A32).

M. Lilly agreed that the use of a |adder for direct access
to the switches, w thout the necessity for clinmbing over
unguar ded conveyors, would have been conpliance, but at the tine
of his inspection, no | adder was being used. He agreed to the use
of a |adder after the citation was issued because the respondent
advised himthat in a few nonths the switch boxes would be
rel ocated, and he did not wish to subject the respondent to the
financi al burden of guarding the conveyors since the boxes were
going to the nmoved (Tr. 35).

On cross-exam nation, M. Lilly identified the crusher
operator with whom he spoke on the day of his inspection as
Phillip Brown, and he confirned that M. Brown advi sed hi mthat
the route he took to reach the switch boxes was the one he
descri bed previously. M. Lilly could not recall asking M. Brown
how | ong he had been enployed at the mine (Tr. 36A37).
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M. Lilly confirmed that he is not an electrician. He stated that

he was told by M. Crimand M. Brown that the cited switch was
the main switch, and he understood that the stop-start sw tches
were in the control booth. Referring to respondent's photographic
exhibit RA5, M. Lilly identified the |arge switch box with a
handl e on the right as a main disconnect, but did not believe it
was the main disconnect for the entire plant because the switch
boxes underneath fed through the |large box in question. He
identified the red and black switch buttons shown in photographic
exhibit RA6 as the stop-start switches inside the booth, and that
all of the equi pnent was started and stopped with these switch
buttons. M. Lilly believed that the |large switch shown in

exhi bit RA5 controls the primary crusher, and the cited sw tches
controlled the large and small cone crushers, and he confirned
that this is howit was explained to himby M. Crim (Tr. 39A40).

Referring to photographic exhibits RAL and RA2, M. Lilly
confirmed that access to the cited switches could be nade with no
probl em from under the open areas shown in the photographs by
means of a ladder. M. Lilly stated that he observed no built-in
| adders and that M. Crim advised himthat he would have to build
one. He also stated that while there was a | adder hooked to the
side of a bin when he took the picture on June 27, 1988, he
observed no | adders on the day of his inspection, and that he
first observed a | adder when he returned to the m ne 2 weeks or a
nmonth |ater to abate the citation. At that time, M. Crim showed
hima | adder which he had constructed with two-by-fours (Tr.
41A43).

In response to further questions, and referring to
phot ogr aphi ¢ exhibits RAL and PA3, M. Lilly identified the
| ocation of the cited switches on the platform area beneath the
operator's control booth. He indicated that the operator would
exit the door to the booth, and go down the stairs to the
pl at f orm bel ow, and across the conveyor belt and an |I-beamto
gain access to the switches in question (Tr. 50A53).

M. Lilly confirmed that both M. Crimand M. Brown told
himthat they had occasion to use the access route he descri bed
to reach the switch box | ocations, and M. Crimconfirmed to him
that this was the only available route. M. Lilly also confirmed
that he was told that the switch boxes were required to be
di sengaged infrequently, or every 6Anpbnths, or twice a day or a
week, dependi ng on the schedul ed change out of the jaw crushers,
and the type of materials being processed (Tr. 58A59).
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Respondent's Testi nony and Evi dence

Joe R WIlianms, respondent's president and general manager
testified that he was famliar with the plant electrical system
and hel ped design the original plant when it was built in 1960
and 1961. Referring to photographic exhibits RAL through RAG6, M.
Wl 1lians explained the |ocation and function of several switch
boxes used in the operation of the equipnent. He identified the
switch box which concerned I nspector Lilly as the one |ocated on
the | ower deck beneath the control booth as depicted in exhibit
RA1 (Tr. 62A66).

M. WIlianms stated that the di sconnect switches for the
| arge and small cone crusher would be accessed in the event of a
mal function in the starter nmotor, and that M. Crimwould need to
access the switches in the event of a mal function, but that the
crusher operator generally does not need to be in the area. In
the event of a malfunction, or the need to test the equi pnment, or
to repair any heater circuits, an electrician would be called to
do this work. This would occur once every year or two, and in the
event of a cone malfunction, or the need to make electrica
repairs, the entire plant operation would be shut down (Tr.
67A69) .

M. WIlians believed that access to the cited switch box
could be nmade fromthe operator's work platformby sitting on the
deck and "take your foot and shove the controls down. Cut off the
breaker." One could also "belly down there and reach with your
hand and shut it off and turn it on. It is awkward" (Tr. 70).

Mal functions in the disconnect box would include a blown fuse or
circuit problens which would necessitate shutting down the entire
plant in order to service the box (Tr. 70A71). Several years may
pass before any such probl ens appear (Tr. 72).

M. WIlianms stated that an angle iron novable | adder is
| ocated at the crusher to clinmb up onto the work deck on the
opposite side of the crusher, but it does not appear in any of
t he phot ographs, and when asked whether a | adder was present when
M. Lilly issued the citation, M. WIIlianms responded "probably
we did" (Tr. 73). He confirnmed that the crusher in question is
operated by three people (Tr. 73). If an electrician were
required to service the disconnect box in question, he would use
a |ladder to gain access to it (Tr. 75).

M. WIlianms confirnmed that M. Brown had been enpl oyed at
the plant for approximately 1 year at the time of the inspection
and he was in training as a crusher operator. He also confirnmed
that the access route that M. Lilly stated was
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described to himby M. Crimwas a possible path of access to the
cited boxes, and that the use of a | adder on the other side of
the crusher was also a nmeans of access. Regarding the route taken
by M. Crim as described by M. Lilly, M. WIllianms stated "it
is not really all that damm difficult. You can step across the
mai n conveyor, * * * you don't crawl under any conveyor because
the return conveyor doesn't conme out that far" (Tr. 77).

M. WIllianms identified the | adder he was referring to as
the one shown in exhibit PA2 (Tr. 78). Counsel David WIIians
stated that the |adder is no |onger there, and that access to the
swi tch boxes would not nornmally be nade by the | adder shown in
t he photograph, but rather by a | adder placed at another | ocation
(Tr. 90). Joe WIlliams was certain that a | adder was avail abl e
for use as access to the cited boxes at the time the inspector
i ssued the citation (Tr. 95). \Wen asked why M. Crimwould have
told M. Lilly that no | adders were avail able on the prem ses,

M. WIIlianms responded "unless M. Crimcouldn't think fast
enough to find a ladder. And | think that is probably the whole
ci rcumst ances” (Tr. 107). Wen asked whet her he doubted that
crusher operator Brown told the inspector about the route he took
to the switch boxes, M. WIllianms stated that he probably and
very possibly nmade the statenment to the inspector (Tr. 95).

Inspector Lilly was recalled, and he confirnmed that while he
i ssued guarding citations during his inspection of July 27, 1987,
none of these involved any of the conveyor equipnment along the
route described as an access to the cited switch boxes, and no
danger of falling citations were issued (Tr. 101A102). M. Lilly
reiterated that he spoke with M. Crim and that they both | ooked
for an avail able | adder, but could not find one. The netal angle
iron | adder referred to by M. WIlians could have been taken
down, but this would have resulted in no | adder being avail abl e
for access to the crusher building (Tr. 103).

M. Lilly confirmed that he told M. Crimthat M. Brown
told himthat he accessed the switch boxes by the route
previously described, and that M. Crimsaid "I have gone that
way nyself on occasions to pull the switch.” M. Lilly confirned
that he and the other inspector inspected the switch boxes, and
"if there is a ladder in that picture, it was because we placed
one thereto get access to that platform-the electrician and I."
M. Lilly confirmed that the | adder he used was the angle | adder
described by M. Wllians (Tr. 104). M. Lilly confirmed that had
M. Brown shown hima | adder or advised himthat he used a | adder
as a means of access to the
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cited switch boxes, he would not have issued the citation (Tr.
105) .

Arguments Presented by the Parties

The parties agreed that M. Lilly issued the citation based
on his conclusion that in the normal course of business, if
soneone had to go to disengage the cited di sconnect boxes, the
route of travel he would take to acconplish this would be to go
down one level fromthe control booth and go over a conveyor and
cross a steel beamto reach the boxes. They al so agreed that M.
Lilly's conclusion regarding the access route canme fromhis
conversations with the crusher operator and foreman, M. Brown
and M. Crim (Tr. 81).

Petitioner's counsel asserted that the testinony of
Inspector Lilly establishes that a safe neans of access was not
provided to the switch boxes in question, and that respondent's
presi dent Joe WIlliams agreed that the statements by M. Crim and
M. Brown to the inspector were possibly correct. Under the
ci rcunmst ances, counsel asserted that |Inspector Lilly acted
reasonably in issuing the citation (Tr. 108).

Wth regard to the inspector's "significant and substantial"
finding, petitioner's counsel asserted that notw thstanding M.
Lilly's agreenent that the plant would be shut down before any
mai nt enance work was performed, and that no one would likely
Cross over any moving conveyor belts to reach the switch boxes,
there was a potential for someone falling 7 or 8 feet to the
ground, even if the belts were not running (Tr. 109). Counse
acknowl edged that M. Lilly issued no citations for the failure
to use a safety belt (Tr. 110).

Respondent's counsel took the position that since access to
the cited switch boxes was not frequent, and occurred once a year
or every other year, the location could hardly be considered a
normal working place (Tr. 96). Respondent's counsel also
i ndi cated that when he first reviewed this case, he believed that
Inspector Lilly had observed sonmething that led himto believe
that safe access was not provided to the cited switch boxes, and
he had no information indicating that the crusher operator had
spoken to M. Lilly and infornmed himabout the route which he had
taken to the switch boxes. Counsel stated further that since M.
Lilly made reference to novi ng machi ne parts and pinch points, he
found it difficult to believe that such a serious "significant
and substantial" situation could be abated by sinply putting up a
| adder (Tr. 111).
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Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

Fact of Violation

The respondent is charged with a violation of mandatory
safety standard 30 C.F. R [0 56.11001, for failure to provide a
saf e means of access to the disconnect and starter boxes used in
conjunction with the big and snmall cone crushers. Section
56. 11001, provides that "Safe neans of access shall be provided
and maintained to all working places." The phrase "working pl ace"”
is defined by section 56.2, as "any place in or about the mne
where work is being perforned.”

In Massey Sand and Rock Company, 4 FMSHRC 188 (February
1982), 2 MSHC 1722, a mner wal ked up a conveyor belt to reach a
head pulley located 35 to 40 feet off the ground so that it could
be greased. As he began to grease the head pulley, the conveyor
started and threw himto the ground. Judge Mrris affirned a
violation of the safe access requirenents of section 56.11001
and found that the operator could have provided a variety of
means and access, including a | adder

I n Mohave Concrete & Materials Conpany, 6 FMSHRC 1195, 1198
(June 1983), 3 MSHC 1040, the judge affirnmed a violation of
section 56.11001 in a situation where an inspector observed a
crusher operator clinb up a crusher feeder frame and stand on a
beamto perform his work. The violation was abated after the
operator provided a platformand | adder for access to the work
station in question.

The respondent's suggestion that the | ocation of the
di sconnect boxes mmy not be considered a "working place" because
visits to that area were infrequent IS REJECTED. Regardl ess of
the frequency of their visits to the switch box area, when M.
Crimand M. Brown had occasion to go to the area they were there
to pull the power for the purpose of facilitating maintenance or
repair work on the equi pment, the clearing of clogged materials,
to check the circuit or blown fuses, or to change out the jaw
crushers. Under the circunstances, the connector box |ocation was
clearly a place where work was being performed within the meaning
of "working place" as defined by section 56. 2.

Wth respect to the respondent's suggestion that a | adder
was avail able for access to the cited boxes, | find no credible
evi dence to support this contention. The evidence clearly
establishes that no | adder was used by M. Brown or M. Crim when
they had a need to access the boxes. Further, although Inspector
Lilly stated that he used a netal angle iron |adder
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to access the platformwhere the boxes were |ocated, the evidence
of record suggests that this particular |adder was not used for
normal access to the boxes and was | ocated at another place.
Further, I find no credible evidence to rebut Inspector Lilly's
credible testinony that the respondent failed to establish that

| adders were used as a normal and regul ar access route to and
fromthe cited boxes in question.

Inspector Lilly's testinony, which I find credible,
establishes that at |east two individuals, M. Brown and M.
Crim gained access to the cited boxes in question by a neans of
travel that took them over a conveyor belt and across an |-beam
to the | ocation of the boxes. These individuals had occasion to
go to the boxes by neans of the route described by the inspector,
and the fact that they nmay have gone their rather infrequently is
no defense to the violation. Although the respondent raised sone
doubt as to whether or not M. Crimnade the statements
attributed to himby M. Lilly, respondent conceded that M.
Brown probably nmade the statements. In any event, since the
respondent did not call M. Brown or M. Crimto testify in this
case, M. Lilly's unrebutted testinmony supports his belief that
the route of travel taken by these individuals exposed themto
certain trip and fall hazards, as well as to potential hazards
fromthe unguarded equi pnment and machi ne parts and pinch points
descri bed by the inspector. Under the circunstances, | conclude
and find that the evidence establishes that the access route
described by the individuals to the inspector was unsafe, and
that a violation of section 56.11001 has been established.
Accordingly, the citation IS AFFI RVED.

Significant and Substantial Violation

A "significant and substantial" violation is described in
section 104(d)(1) of the Mne Act as a violation "of such nature
as could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause
and effect of a coal or other nmine safety or health hazard." 30
C.F.R 0O814(d)(1). Aviolation is properly designated

signi ficant and substantial "if, based upon the particular facts
surroundi ng the violation there exists a reasonable |ikelihood
that the hazard contributed to will result in an injury or

illness of a reasonably serious nature." Cenent Division
Nat i onal Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981).

In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3A4 (January 1984), the
Commi ssion explained its interpretation of the term "significant
and substantial" as foll ows:
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In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory safety
standard is significant and substantial under National Gypsumthe
Secretary of Labor nust prove: (1) the underlying violation of a
mandatory safety standard; (2) a discrete safety hazard--that is,
a neasure of danger to safety-contributed to by the violation
(3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard contributed to wll

result in an injury; and (4) a reasonable |ikelihood that the
injury in question will be of a reasonably serious nature.

In United States Steel M ning Conmpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125,
1129, the Commi ssion stated further as foll ows:

We have explained further that the third el ement of the
Mat hies forrmula "requires that the Secretary establish
a reasonabl e |likelihood that the hazard contributed to
will result in an event in which there is an injury."
US. Steel Mning Co., 6 FMSHRC 1834, 1836 (August
1984). We have enphasi zed that, in accordance with the
| anguage of section 104(d)(1), it is the contribution
of a violation to the cause and effect of a hazard that
nmust be significant and substantial. U S. Steel M ning
Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1866, 1868 (August 1984); U.S.
Steel M ning Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574A75
(July 1984).

M. Lilly believed that there was a reasonabl e |ikelihood of
an injury to an enpl oyee who had to cross the conveyors to reach
the I ocation of the switch boxes, and there was a possibility of
tripping or falling if the conveyor were nuddy or if a |ot of
dust was present (Tr. 23). He confirmed that a citation was al so
i ssued for not |ocking out the equi pment, but he could not recal
whet her it involved the sane safe access condition (Tr. 26). M.
Lilly was al so concerned about possible sprains or broken bones
if anyone fell off an opening between the conveyor and |-beam or
whil e standing or stepping onto the platformfromthe |-beam (Tr.
27).

M. Lilly agreed that M. Crimand M. Brown would not be
clinmbing over nmoving conveyors belts, and that the entire area
was shut down when these individuals had a need to access the
boxes. However, M. Lilly testified that crusher operator Brown
i nformed himthat even though he shut the equi pment down by neans
of the stop-start switch in the control booth, he
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still had to go to the location of the boxes to pull the main
power in order to make the crusher area safe for anyone freeing
pl ugged material fromit. M. Lilly believed that anyone could
have entered the control booth and activated the equi pment by
means of the start-stop buttons, and | believe that in the event
this occurred before the main switch was di sconnected, and while
someone was on the conveyors or in the proximty of unguarded and
nmovi ng machi ne parts, a potential hazard and injury would be
present.

Even assum ng that the equi pnent over which M. Crimand M.
Brown had to clinb was totally deenergi zed and | ocked out while
they were clinmbing over it, M. Lilly was still concerned that
slipping or tripping hazards woul d be presented by the route of
travel taken by these individuals, particularly if the conveyor
was wet, nuddy, or dusty. They would al so be exposed to a falling
hazard fromthe |-beam over which they had to step to reach the
pl atform where the boxes were | ocated. Under all of these
circumst ances, | conclude and find that M. Lilly's "significant
and substantial" finding was reasonable and proper, and IT IS
AFF| RVED.

Hi story of Prior Violations

The parties stipulated that during the preceding 24Anonth
peri od, respondent was subjected to 22 inspection days, and was
i ssued 46 citations during the preceding 12Anmonth peri od.
Petitioner submitted an uneval uated conputer print-out listing
the respondent's violation history for the period March, 1978
t hrough June, 1988, which contains no information as to the civi
penal ti es assessed for each of the violations |isted, or any
information as to which of the citations have been paid, and
whi ch have not (exhibit PA1). In any event, after review of this
information, | conclude and find that for the i mediate 24Amonth
period prior to the issuance of the violation which has been
affirmed in this case, the respondent had an average history of
conpliance at its San Saba plant and quarry. | further conclude
and find that respondent's conpliance record is not such as to
warrant any additional increases in the civil penalty assessnent
for the violation in question.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty on the Respondent's
Ability to Continue in Business

Based on the stipulations of the parties, and the testinony
of M. WIlianms concerning the San Saba quarry production and the
nunmber of enpl oyees operating the plant, (Tr. 72), | conclude and
find that the respondent is a small mne operator. Absent any
information to the contrary, | also conclude and
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find that the paynent of the civil penalty assessment for the
violation in question will not adversely affect the respondent's
ability to continue in business.

Gavity

| conclude and find that the violation was serious. The
failure to provide safe access to the cited boxes in question
presented a potential injury to the enployees clinmbing over the
conveyors and |-beamin question, and in the event of a slipping,
tripping, or falling accident, injuries of a reasonably serious
nature coul d be expect ed.

Negl i gence

| conclude and find that the violation was the result of
ordi nary negligence on the part of the respondent because of its
failure to exercise reasonable care to insure that its enployees
used a safe access route for reaching the cited boxes. It seens
to me that this could have been acconplished by sinply providing
a ladder in the immredi ate ground | evel area beneath the platform
or crusher operator's booth, or at |east having one readily
available, with appropriate instructions as to its use by any
enpl oyee or serviceman who nmay have had a need to access the
boxes for mmi ntenance, repair, or inspection

Good Faith Conpliance

The record establishes that the respondent took appropriate
steps to tinmely abate the citation by providing a | adder as a
saf e neans of access to the boxes in question. | conclude and
find that the respondent denobnstrated good faith conpliance.

Civil Penalty Assessnent

In view of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the requirenents of section 110(i) of the
Act, | conclude and find that the petitioner's proposed civi
penalty assessnment of $91 for the violation is reasonable and
appropriate. Accordingly, IT IS AFFI RVED,

ORDER
The respondent |'S ORDERED to pay a civil penalty assessnent

in the anount of $91 for the section 104(a) "S & S" Citation No.
2868984, July 27, 1987, 30 C.F.R [ 56.11001
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Payment is to be nade to MSHA within thirty (30) days of the date
of this decision, and upon receipt of paynent, this proceeding is
di smi ssed.

CGeorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge



